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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q
(Mark one)
b QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2007
OR
0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 1-12317
NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 76-0475815
(State or other jurisdiction (LR.S. Employer
of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
10000 Richmond Avenue
Houston, Texas
77042-4200

(Address of principal executive offices)
(713) 346-7500
(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes b Noo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated
filer. See definition accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated filer p Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes
oNop
As of May 1, 2007 the registrant had 177,613,656 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share, outstanding.
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Item 1. Financial Statements

PART 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION

NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share data)

March 31,
2007
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,190.2
Receivables, net 1,682.1
Inventories, net 1,993.1
Costs in excess of billings 374.7
Deferred income taxes 106.7
Prepaid and other current assets 187.0
Total current assets 5,533.8
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,047.5
Deferred income taxes 59.3
Goodwill 2,278.1
Intangibles, net 725.7
Other assets 25.7
Total assets $ 9,670.1
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 572.5
Accrued liabilities 1,408.1
Billings in excess of costs 733.3
Current portion of long-term debt and short-term borrowings 107.8
Accrued income taxes 193.4
Total current liabilities 3,015.1
Long-term debt 737.8
Deferred income taxes 437.9
Other liabilities 71.2
Total liabilities 4,262.0

Commitments and contingencies

Table of Contents

$

December
31,
2006

957.4
1,614.6
1,828.8

308.9

101.6

154.3

4,965.6

1,022.1
56.1
2,244.7
705.2
25.6

9,019.3

505.2
1,420.2
564.4
5.6
169.8

2,665.2
834.7
389.0

71.4

3,960.3
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Minority interest 39.8 35.5
Stockholders equity:
Common stock par value $.01; 177,290,970 and 175,571,663 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 1.8 1.8
Additional paid-in capital 3,521.9 3,461.7
Accumulated other comprehensive income 60.2 46.1
Retained earnings 1,784.4 1,513.9
Total stockholders equity 5,368.3 5,023.5
Total liabilities and stockholders equity $ 9,670.1 9,019.3

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)
(In millions, except per share data)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2007 2006
Revenue $2,165.7 $1,511.8
Cost of revenue 1,550.7 1,162.0
Gross profit 615.0 349.8
Selling, general, and administrative 187.9 144.1
Integration costs 7.9
Operating profit 427.1 197.8
Interest and financial costs (12.3) (13.6)
Interest income 9.1 1.7
Other income (expense), net 2.9 3.0)
Income before income taxes and minority interest 421.0 182.9
Provision for income taxes 140.7 61.3
Income before minority interest 280.3 121.6
Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries 4.4 1.3
Net income $ 2759 $ 1203
Net income per share:
Basic $ 157 $ 0.69
Diluted $ 155 $ 0.68
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 175.9 174.6

Table of Contents 6
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See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(In millions)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2007 2006
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income $ 2759 $ 1203
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided (used) by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 473 38.4
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options 9.1 (5.2)
Other 12.0 1.1
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Receivables (69.9) (65.3)
Inventories (167.9) (155.2)
Costs in excess of billings (65.9) (6.8)
Prepaid and other current assets (32.4) (39.4)
Accounts payable 67.2 374
Billings in excess of costs 168.9 96.3
Other assets/liabilities, net 38.1 65.0
Net cash provided by operating activities 264.2 86.6
Cash flow from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (48.0) (30.2)
Businesses acquisitions, net of cash acquired (38.1) (21.0)
Other 0.3
Net cash used by investing activities (85.8) (51.2)
Cash flow from financing activities:
Borrowing against lines of credit and other debt 0.4 3.6
Payments against lines of credit and other debt (1.5) 5.7
Proceeds from stock options exercised 42.2 13.2
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options 9.1 5.2
Net cash provided by financing activities 50.2 16.3
Effect of exchange rates on cash 4.2 1.9
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Increase in cash equivalents 232.8 53.6
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 957.4 209.4
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $1,190.2 $ 263.0
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash payments during the period for:
Interest $ 9.5 $ 89
Income taxes $ 108.8 $ 39.1

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
1. Basis of Presentation
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported and contingent amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements present information in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q
and applicable rules of Regulation S-X. They do not include all information or footnotes required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States for complete consolidated financial statements and should be read in
conjunction with our 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, all of which are of a normal, recurring
nature, necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods. The results of operations for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.
2. Inventories, net
Inventories consist of (in millions):

December
March 31, 31,
2007 2006

Raw materials and supplies $ 268.6 $ 266.5
Work in process 621.1 520.9
Finished goods and purchased products 1,103.4 1,041.4
Total $ 1,993.1 $ 1,828.8
3. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of (in millions):

December
March 31, 31,
2007 2006

Compensation $ 1221 $ 160.0
Customer prepayments 541.5 538.4
Warranty 65.5 57.3
Interest 15.6 11.9
Taxes (non income) 28.9 34.1
Insurance 43.5 39.1
Accrued purchase orders 377.0 334.9
Hedge commitments 439 33.0
Other 170.1 211.5
Total $ 1,408.1 $ 1,420.2

Table of Contents 10
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4. Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts
Costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts consist of (in millions):

December
March 31, 31,
2007 2006
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts $ 1,682.7 $ 1,924.0
Estimated earnings 500.5 470.0
2,183.2 2,394.0
Less: Billings to date 2,541.8 2,649.5

$ (358.6) $ (255.5)
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts $ 3747 $ 308.9
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts (733.3) (564.4)

$ (358.6) $ (255.5)

5. Comprehensive Income
The components of comprehensive income are as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2007 2006
Net income $275.9 $120.3
Currency translation adjustments 23.1 9.3
Other (9.0) 6.8
Comprehensive income $290.0 $1364

Table of Contents 11
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6. Business Segments
Operating results by segment are as follows (in millions):

Revenue:

Rig Technology

Petroleum Services & Supplies
Distribution Services
Elimination

Total Revenue

Operating Profit:

Rig Technology

Petroleum Services & Supplies
Distribution Services

Unallocated expenses and eliminations

Total operating profit
Operating profit %:

Rig Technology

Petroleum Services & Supplies

Distribution Services

Total Operating Profit %

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2007 2006
$1,219.8 $ 7153
691.8 541.0
351.9 326.5
(97.8) (71.0)
$2,165.7 $1,511.8
$ 268.8 $ 937
171.0 115.1
24.9 20.4
(37.6) (31.4)
$ 427.1 $ 197.8
22.0% 13.1%
24.7% 21.3%
7.1% 6.2%
19.7% 13.1%

Note: Stock-based compensation expense and integration costs have been allocated to the respective business

segments and unallocated expenses for all periods presented.
7. Debt
Debt consists of (in millions):

$100.0 million Senior Notes, interest at 7.5% payable semiannually, principal
due on February 15, 2008

$150.0 million Senior Notes, interest at 6.5% payable semiannually, principal
due on March 15, 2011

$200.0 million Senior Notes, interest at 7.25% payable semiannually, principal
due on May 1, 2011

$200.0 million Senior Notes, interest at 5.65% payable semiannually, principal
due on November 15, 2012

$150.0 million Senior Notes, interest at 5.5% payable semiannually, principal
due on November 19, 2012

Table of Contents

March 31,
2007

$ 1015
150.0
2143
200.0

151.5

$

December
31,
2006
101.9
150.0
215.2
200.0

151.6
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Other 28.3 21.6

Total debt 845.6 840.3

Less current portion 107.8 5.6

Long-term debt $ 7378 $ 834.7
7
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Senior Notes

The Senior Notes contain reporting covenants, and the credit facility contains financial covenants regarding maximum
debt to capitalization and minimum interest coverage. We were in compliance with all covenants at March 31, 2007.
Revolver Facilities

On June 21, 2005, we amended and restated our existing $150 million revolving credit facility with a syndicate of
lenders to provide the Company a $500 million unsecured revolving credit facility. This facility will expire in

July 2010. The Company has the right to increase the facility to $750 million and to extend the term of the facility for
an additional year. At March 31, 2007, there were no borrowings against this facility, and there were $248 million in
outstanding letters of credit. Interest under this multicurrency facility is based upon LIBOR, NIBOR or EURIBOR
plus 0.30% subject to a ratings-based grid, or the prime rate.

Other

Other debt includes approximately $24.3 million in promissory notes due to former owners of businesses acquired
who remain employed by the company.

At March 31, 2007, there were $252 million of funds available under the revolving credit facility. The company also
has $718 million of additional outstanding letters of credit at March 31, 2007, primarily in Norway, that are not under
the Company s senior credit facility.

8. Tax

On July 13, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes An
Interpretation of FASB No. 109 ( FIN 48 ). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized
in an entity s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes and
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken
or expected to be taken on a return. Under FIN 48, the impact of an uncertain income tax position, in management s
opinion, on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained
upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has a less
than 50% likelihood of being sustained. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 became effective January 1,
2007 for the Company. As required, the Company has recorded the cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48 as an
adjustment to the January 1, 2007 beginning balance of retained earnings.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of the date of adoption was $54.5 million. As a result of the
implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a $9.3 million increase in the liability for unrecognized tax
benefits and a $0.6 million increase for accrued interest and penalty which was accounted for as follows (in millions):

Reduction in Retained Earnings (cumulative effect) $ 54
Additional Goodwill 4.5
Increase in Liability $ 99

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, 2007 are $30.5 million of tax benefits that, if
recognized in future periods, would impact the Company s effective tax rate. Also included in the balance of
unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, 2007 are $24.0 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in a
decrease to goodwill in purchase business combinations. There have been no significant changes to these amounts
during the quarter ended March 31, 2007.

The Company does not anticipate that the total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to the
settlement of audits or the expiration of statutes of limitation within 12 months of this reporting date.

To the extent penalties and interest would be assessed on any underpayment of income tax, such accrued amounts
have been classified as a component of income tax expense in the financial statements. This is an accounting policy
election made by the Company that is a continuation of the Company s historical policy and will continue to be
consistently applied in the future. As of January 1, 2007, the Company had accrued approximately $3.9 million of
interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits.
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The Company is subject to taxation in the United States, various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company has
significant operations in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands and Norway. Tax years that
remain subject to
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examination by major tax jurisdictions vary by legal entity, but are generally open for the tax years ending after 2001.
Norway also remains open for the 2001 tax year.

The Company is currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service for its 2003 tax year. The Company anticipates
that the IRS will complete its audit by the end of June 2007. The Company does not anticipate that adjustments
resulting from this examination, if any, would result in a material impact on its financial position, cash flows or results
of operations.

9. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a share-based compensation plan known as the National Oilwell Varco Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the Plan ). The Plan provides for the granting of stock options, performance awards, restricted stock, phantom shares,
stock payments and stock appreciation rights. The number of shares authorized under the plan is 7.5 million. As of
March 31, 2007, there remain approximately 3.5 million shares available for future grants under the Plan, all of which
are available for grants of stock options, performance awards, restricted stock, phantom shares, stock payments and
stock appreciation rights. Total stock-based compensation for all share-based compensation arrangements under the
Plan was $8.9 million and $6.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The total
income tax benefit recognized in the income statement for all share-based compensation arrangements under the Plan
was $2.9 million and $2.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

During the three months ended March 31, 2007, the Company granted 1,162,650 stock options, 298,550 restricted
stock award shares and 200,250 performance-based restricted stock award shares. The stock options were granted
March 1, 2007 with an exercise price of $70.45. These options vest over a three-year period from grant date. The
restricted stock award shares were also granted March 1, 2007. These shares will not vest until the third anniversary of
the date of the grant, at which time they will be 100% vested. The performance-based restricted stock award shares
were granted March 26, 2007. Of the total amount of 200,250 performance-based restricted stock award shares
granted, 66,750 will be 100% vested 18 months from date of grant, with a performance condition of the Company s
operating profit level growth from January 1, 2007 to June 30, 2008 needing to exceed the median operating profit
level growth of a designated peer group over the same period. The remaining 133,500 performance-based restricted
stock award shares will be 100% vested 36 months from date of grant, with a performance condition of the Company s
average operating profit level growth from January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2009 needing to exceed the median
operating profit level growth of a designated peer group over the same period.

10. Derivative Financial Instruments

Except for certain foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements discussed below, all
derivative financial instruments we hold are designated as either cash flow or fair value hedges and are highly
effective in offsetting movements in the underlying risks. Accordingly, gains and losses from changes in the fair value
of designated derivative financial instruments are deferred and recognized in earnings as revenues or costs of sales as
the underlying transactions occur.

We use foreign currency forward contracts and options to mitigate our exposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on recognized nonfunctional currency monetary accounts, forecasted transactions and firm sale and
purchase commitments to better match the local currency cost components of non-functional currency transactions.
Such arrangements typically have terms between two and 15 months, but may have longer terms depending on the
project and our backlog. We may also use interest rate contracts to mitigate our exposure to changes in interest rates
on anticipated long-term debt issuances. We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.

At March 31, 2007, we had entered into foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating

$150.9 million designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges to hedge exposure to currency fluctuations in various
foreign currencies. These exposures arise when local currency operating expenses are not in balance with local
currency revenue collections. Ineffectiveness was not material on these foreign currency forward contracts. Based on
quoted market prices as of March 31, 2007 for contracts with similar terms and maturity dates, we have recorded a
gain of $1.0 million, net of tax of $0.3 million, to adjust these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market
value. This gain is included in other comprehensive income in the consolidated balance sheet. It is expected that all of
this gain will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. The Company currently has cash flow hedges in
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place through the first quarter of 2008.
At March 31, 2007, the Company had foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating
$1,693.5 million designated and qualifying as fair value hedges to hedge exposure to currency fluctuations in various
foreign currencies. Based on quoted market prices as of March 31, 2007 for contracts with similar terms and maturity
dates, we recorded a gain of $32.8 million to adjust these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market
values. This gain offsets designated losses on firm commitments. The Company currently has fair value hedges in
place through the third quarter of 2010. A loss from ineffectiveness of $0.1 million is included in earnings related to
these foreign currency forward contracts.
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The Company had foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating $69.2 million to offset
exposures to currency fluctuation of nonfunctional currency balance sheet accounts, primarily consisting of accounts
receivable and accounts payable and are not designated as hedges. Therefore, changes in the fair values of these
contracts are recorded each period in current earnings.

As of March 31, 2007, we had three interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of $100 million
associated with our 2008 Senior Notes. Under these agreements, we receive interest at a fixed rate of 7.5% and pay
interest at a floating rate of six-month LIBOR plus a weighted average spread of approximately 4.675%. The swap
agreements will settle semi-annually and will terminate in February 2008. The swap agreements originally entered
into by Varco were recorded at their fair market value at the date of the Merger and no longer qualify as effective
hedges. The swaps are marked-to-market, and any change in their value is reported as an adjustment to interest
expense. The change in the fair market value of the interest rate swap agreements resulted in a $0.2 million decrease in
interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2007.

11. Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding (in millions,
except per share data):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2007 2006

Numerator:
Net income $275.9 $120.3
Denominator:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 175.9 174.6
Dilutive effect of employee stock options and other unvested stock awards 1.7 2.0
Diluted outstanding shares 177.6 176.6
Basic earnings per share $ 1.57 $ 0.69
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.55 $ 0.68

12. Subsequent Event
On April 19, 2007, the Company acquired the business and operating assets of Gammaloy Holdings, L.P. and Marlex
Energy Services Company.
13. Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ( SFAS 157 ). SFAS 157 establishes a framework for fair value measurements in
the financial statements by providing a single definition of fair value, provides guidance on the methods used to
estimate fair value and increases disclosures about estimates of fair value. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effect, if any, SFAS 157 will have on our
financial disclosures as well as our consolidated financial position, cash flows, and results from operations.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities ( SFAS 159 ). SFAS 159 provides entities with an option to measure many financial assets and liabilities and
certain other items at fair value as determined on an instrument by instrument basis. The Company has not yet
evaluated the impact, if any, this standard might have on the Company s consolidated financial statements once it
becomes effective on January 1, 2008.
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Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Introduction
National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the Company ) is a worldwide leader in the design, manufacture and sale of equipment
and components used in oil and gas drilling and production, the provision of oilfield services, and supply chain
integration services to the upstream oil and gas industry. The following describes our business segments:
Rig Technology
Our Rig Technology segment designs, manufactures, sells and services complete systems for the drilling, completion,
and servicing of oil and gas wells. The segment offers a comprehensive line of highly-engineered equipment that
automates complex well construction and management operations, such as offshore and onshore drilling rigs; derricks;
pipe lifting, racking, rotating and assembly systems; coiled tubing equipment and pressure pumping units; well
workover rigs; wireline winches; and cranes. Demand for Rig Technology products is primarily dependent on capital
spending plans by drilling contractors, oilfield service companies, and oil and gas companies, and secondarily on the
overall level of oilfield drilling activity, which drives demand for after-market service, repair, training and spare parts
for the segment s large installed base of equipment. We have made strategic acquisitions and other investments during
the past several years in an effort to expand our product offering and our global manufacturing capabilities, including
new operations in Canada, Norway, the United Kingdom, China, and Belarus.
Petroleum Services & Supplies
Our Petroleum Services & Supplies segment provides a variety of consumable goods and services used to drill,
complete, remediate and workover oil and gas wells and service pipelines, flowlines and other oilfield tubular goods.
The segment manufactures, rents and sells a variety of products and equipment used to perform drilling operations,
including transfer pumps, solids control systems, drilling motors and other downhole tools, rig instrumentation
systems, and mud pump consumables. Demand for these services and supplies is determined principally by the level
of oilfield drilling and workover activity by drilling contractors, major and independent oil and gas companies, and
national oil companies. Oilfield tubular services include the provision of inspection and internal coating services and
equipment for drillpipe, linepipe, tubing, casing and pipelines; and the design, manufacture and sale of coiled tubing
pipe and advanced composite pipe for application in highly corrosive environments. The segment sells its tubular
goods and services to oil and gas companies; drilling contractors; pipe distributors, processors and manufacturers; and
pipeline operators. This segment has benefited from several strategic acquisitions and other investments completed
during the past few years, including operations in Canada, the United Kingdom, Denmark, China, Kazakhstan, and
Mexico.
Distribution Services
Our Distribution Services segment provides maintenance, repair and operating supplies and spare parts to drill site and
production locations worldwide. In addition to its comprehensive network of field locations supporting land drilling
operations throughout North America, the segment supports major offshore drilling contractors through locations in
the Middle East, Europe, Southeast Asia and South America. Distribution Services employs advanced information
technologies to provide complete procurement, inventory management and logistics services to its customers around
the globe. Demand for the segment s services are determined primarily by the level of drilling and servicing activity,
and oil and gas production activities.
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Executive Summary

National Oilwell Varco generated earnings of $275.9 million or $1.55 per fully diluted share in its first quarter ended
March 31, 2007, on revenues of $2,165.7 million. Earnings increased 15 percent sequentially from the fourth quarter
of 2006 to the first quarter of 2007, and increased 128 percent from the first quarter of 2006 to the first quarter of
2007. The Company s first quarter revenues improved four percent compared to the fourth quarter of 2006 and

43 percent compared to the first quarter of 2006. Operating profit was $427.1 million, or 19.7 percent of sales, an
increase of 12 percent compared to the fourth quarter of 2006 and an increase of 116 percent compared to the first
quarter of 2006. Flow-through, or the increase in operating profit divided by the increase in revenue, was 53 percent
from the fourth quarter of 2006 to the first quarter of 2007, and 35 percent from the first quarter of 2006. All three of
our business segments posted higher revenue, higher operating profit, and higher operating margins compared to the
first quarter of 2006, and two of our three segments posted higher revenue, operating profit, and operating margins
compared to the fourth quarter of 2006. The historical segment results discussed below, including the results of the
Company s first quarter ended March 31, 2007, are presented with stock-based compensation expenses allocated to the
segments.

Oil & Gas Equipment and Services Market

Activity levels and demand for our products and services remained very strong in most of our markets through the
first quarter of 2007, following significant increases over the past three years. Recovering economies of developed
nations, and the desire for improved standards of living among many in developing nations, have increased demand
for oil and gas. As a result, oil and gas prices have increased significantly compared to price levels only a few years
ago, which has led to rising levels of exploration and development drilling in many oil and gas basins around the
globe.

The worldwide count of rigs actively drilling during the first quarter of 2007 as measured by Baker Hughes increased
four percent from the fourth quarter of 2006, and five percent from the first quarter of 2006. The rig count is a good
measure of the level of oilfield activity and spending. U.S. rig activity was generally flat from the fourth quarter to the
first (up less than one percent), but our domestic oilfield service businesses posted strong sequential sales gains
nevertheless, due to a combination of higher pricing and higher volumes. The Company expects oilfield activity in the
U.S. to rise modestly through the remainder of the year, provided oil and gas prices remain high. Rig activity in
Canada increased sequentially from the fourth quarter to the first, but remained below year earlier levels, and
remained seasonally weak. Gas prices declined in the third quarter of 2006, which together with the strengthening
Canadian dollar, tight labor markets, higher oilfield service costs, and changes in the tax treatment of royalty income
trusts, led to a general softening of oilfield market conditions in Canada late last year. The Company s outlook for
Canadian activity remains guarded, but steadily improving gas prices over the past six months may lead to an increase
in drilling activity there later in the year. Canada accounted for approximately three percent of the Company s Rig
Technology segment sales, 11 percent of its Petroleum Services & Supplies sales, and 20 percent of its Distribution
Services sales during the first quarter. The rig count in non-North American markets, which tend to be driven more by
oil prices, continued to increase in the first quarter, and the Company expects international markets to show continued
growth in 2007 provided oil prices remain high. The international rig count increased three percent from the fourth
quarter to the first, and is up ten percent from the first quarter of 2006. Sustained weaker commodity prices in any of
these markets would likely cause rig activity, and associated demand for the Company s products and services, to
decline.

Oil and gas companies have increased their levels of investment in new oil and gas wells over the past few years, to
reverse the trend of declining reserves and to grow production to satisfy the rising energy needs of the world. This has
led to a level of drilling activity not seen since the early 1980 s, which has, in turn, resulted in steadily rising demand
for oilfield services over the last several quarters in most markets. Much of the new incremental drilling activity is
occurring in harsh environments, and employs increasingly sophisticated technology to find and produce reserves.
The rise in demand for drilling rigs has driven rig dayrates sharply higher over the past few years, which has increased
cash flows and available financing to drilling contractors. Rising dayrates have caused many older rigs to be placed
back into service, and many of these have been upgraded with equipment and capabilities to make them more
competitive. The Company has played an important role in providing the equipment, consumables and services
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needed to reactivate many of these older rigs.
Higher utilization of drilling rigs has tested the capability of the world s fleet of rigs, much of which is old and of
limited capability. Technology has advanced significantly since most of the existing rig fleet was built. The industry
invested little during the late 1980 s and the 1990 s on new drilling equipment, but drilling technology progressed
steadily nonetheless, as the Company and its competitors continued to invest in new and better ways of drilling. As a
consequence, the safety, reliability, and efficiency of new, modern rigs surpass the performance of most of the older
rigs at work today. Many new land rigs have entered the market in North America since 2005, and several operators
have discovered the benefits of newer, more efficient rigs. There appears to be emerging a significant preference for
modern rigs in the market, and older rigs are being replaced by
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new rigs. As a result our backlog of drilling equipment has doubled, from $3.2 billion a year ago to $6.4 billion at
March 31, 2007. The backlog increased six percent in the first quarter compared to the end of 2006, despite a general
softening of rig dayrates in several rig categories. As a result of this trend, the Company has benefited from
incremental demand for new rigs, as well as new products (such as our small iron roughnecks for land rigs, our LXT
BOP s, our Safe-T-Lite pump liner systems, among others) to upgrade certain rig functions to make them safer and
more efficient.

Drilling rigs are now being pushed to drill deeper wells, more complex wells, highly deviated wells and horizontal
wells, tasks which require larger rigs with more capabilities. Higher dayrates magnify the opportunity cost of rig
downtime, and rigs are being pushed to maximize revenue days for their drilling contractor owners. The drilling
process effectively consumes the mechanical components of a rig, which wear out and need periodic repair or
replacement. This process has been accelerated by the high levels of rig utilization seen over the past few years. In
preceding years contractors could cannibalize mechanical components from their idle rigs, rather than purchase new
components. As the fleet of idle rigs has dwindled, the availability of used components has dwindled as well, which
has spurred incremental demand for rig components from the Company.

Changing methods of drilling have further benefited the Company s business. Increasingly, hydraulic power in
addition to conventional mechanical rotary power is being used to apply torque to the drill bit. This is done using
downhole drilling motors powered by drilling fluids. The Company is a major provider of downhole drilling motors,
and has seen demand for this application of its drilling motors increase over the last few years. This trend has also
increased demand for the Company s high pressure mud pumps, which create the hydraulic power in the drilling fluid
which drive the drilling motors.

While the increasingly efficient equipment provided by the Company has mitigated the effect, high activity levels
have increased demand for personnel in the oilfield. Consequently, the Company, its customers and its suppliers have
experienced wage inflation in certain markets. Hiring experienced drilling crews has been challenging for the drilling
industry and the Company believes crews generally prefer working on newer, more modern rigs. The Company s
products which save labor and increase efficiency (such as its automatic slips and pipe handling equipment) also make
the rig crew s jobs easier, and make the rig a more desirable place to work.

Finally, the increase in drilling rig dayrates has made the economics of building new rigs compelling in many markets.
For the first time in many years, the world is actively building land rigs and offshore rigs. Approximately 80 new
jackup rigs and 50 new floating rigs have been commenced since early 2005. The world s rig fleet is aging. The
average floating rig is 22 years old, the average jackup rig is 24 years old, and the average land rig is estimated to be
between 25 and 30 years old. We believe that new rigs we supply are replacing older models that are too antiquated to
attract experienced drilling crews or compete effectively. In spite of the many new jackup rigs scheduled for delivery
over the next three years, it would take the industry more than 20 years to fully replace the fleet of jackup rigs at the
current rate of replacement, and the average age of the fleet will continue to increase. The growth in our backlog of
capital equipment since early 2005 illustrates the pressing needs of the drilling industry, which invested very little
capital in new drilling equipment for more than 20 years.

Segment Performance

Revenues for our Rig Technology segment were $1,219.8 million for the first quarter, an increase of seven percent
from the fourth quarter of 2006, and an increase of 71 percent from the first quarter of 2006. Operating profit was
$268.8 million or 22.0 percent of revenue. The segment generated sequential operating profit flow-through of

52 percent, and year-over-year flow-through of 35 percent. Several strategic initiatives are contributing to the
segment s financial results. In addition to improved pricing, the segment benefited from several efficiencies arising
from manufacturing initiatives completed in 2005 and 2006 enabled by the consolidation of National Oilwell s and
Varco s manufacturing infrastructure to better load its plants following the merger. The segment has launched lean
manufacturing and cellular manufacturing techniques in seven of its 24 manufacturing plants. The segment has
worked closely with its suppliers to manage costs of execution, including day-to-day management of production in
certain plants owned by our suppliers. Higher production volumes permit greater overhead absorption and operating
leverage, and the segment also benefited from more standardized, consistent product mix and rig designs. Similar rig
designs reduce the engineering and design costs for us, and reduce the risk of delays for our customers. Our large
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backlog also permits us to place larger orders with suppliers, and provides more visibility into the future. The
segment s first quarter results also benefited from the addition of Rolligon s results, which was acquired in the fourth
quarter of 2006. Selective investments in new tools and machines have contributed to the segment s growth as well.
Our strategy targets the premium end of the market, emphasizing technology, quality and reliability. Backlog for the
Rig Technology segment increased in the first quarter as it contracted $1,179.1 million in new orders, and generated
revenue out of its backlog of $789.8 million during the quarter. New orders declined approximately seven percent
from the fourth quarter of 2006, excluding order additions of $133 million in the fourth quarter that entered the
backlog through the Rolligon acquisition. The Company has the capability to supply up to approximately $48 million
of equipment for a typical jackup rig, up to $260 million of equipment for a new floating rig, and effectively all of a
new land rig (which can range in price from less than $1 million for a well service rig to over $50 million for a large,
harsh environment rig). The mix of the segment s March 31, 2007 backlog was approximately
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28 percent land equipment and 72 percent offshore equipment. Approximately 82 percent of backlog is destined for
international locations, and 18 percent is destined for domestic locations. The revenue scheduled to flow out of
backlog as of March 31, 2007 is approximately $2.5 billion for the remainder of 2007, $2.1 billion for 2008, and

$1.8 billion in 2009 and beyond. The segment has commissioned 11 new jackup rigs since 2005, and execution of
these projects has been good. As a result of our improving throughput from manufacturing, quoted deliveries on
drilling components have remained roughly level since last summer.

High oil and gas activity levels also increased demand for the Company s Petroleum Services & Supplies segment in
the first quarter of 2007. The segment posted record revenues of $691.8 million, an increase of three percent from the
fourth quarter and an increase of 28 percent from the first quarter of 2006. Operating profit was $171.0 million, or
24.7 percent of sales, up slightly from the fourth quarter and up 340 basis points from the first quarter of last year.
Operating profit flow-through was 34 percent from the fourth quarter, and 37 percent from the first quarter of 2006.
The full quarter results from the segment s NQL acquisition and strong domestic sales contributed to the revenue
growth, offsetting lower seasonal results from pipeline inspection. Oilfield pipe inspection services in the Eastern
Hemisphere and the U.S. improved, despite continued reduction of domestic distributor s pipe inventories through the
first quarter, and demand continued to rise for pipe coating services and hardbanding of drillpipe. Sales of coiled
tubing, fiberglass pipe, fluid end modules, drilling expendables, multiplex pumps and dies and insets all increased
worldwide, except Canada, where market conditions remained seasonally soft. Solids control and rig instrumentation
sales were down slightly on weaker Latin American results and lower equipment shipments into international markets,
but nevertheless both products posted higher operating profit and margins sequentially. The segment s margins
benefited from lower fiberglass and resin costs, but the relative stability of nickel, copper and bronze prices of the past
few months appears to be diminishing, and we expect alloy prices to increase in the second quarter. The integration of
the NQL acquisition, which strengthened the segment s position as the leading supplier of drilling motors, is
proceeding well. The Company announced in the second quarter of 2007 that it acquired the assets of Gammaloy and
Marlex, which rent non-magnetic drill collars and other downhole tools used within the bottom-hole assembly, and
provide manufacturing and support services for various downhole tools requiring high-precision machining. This
acquisition complements the segment s offering of downhole tools, and positions the Company to provide a more
complete solution to our directional drilling customers, who rent and buy both our motors as well as the non-magnetic
drillstring components offered by Gammaloy. We expect to expand the Gammaloy and Marlex product lines globally
through our extensive international infrastructure, including our new downhole tools facility we expect to open in
Dubai later this year.

Sales for our Distribution Services segment softened sequentially in the first quarter after record results in the fourth
quarter. Revenues were $351.9 million, down five percent sequentially, but up eight percent from the first quarter of
last year. Operating profit was $24.9 million and operating margins were 7.1 percent, after stock-based compensation
charges which impacted margins by approximately 20 basis points. Operating margins improved 80 basis points from
the first quarter of 2006, and operating profit decremental flow-through was 19 percent sequentially, and incremental
operating profit flow-through was 18 percent from the prior year quarter. The business struggled in the first quarter
with difficult market conditions in Canada, which accounted for 20 percent of its first quarter revenue. One of the
segment s large alliance partner customers significantly reduced its Canadian activity, and several operators announced
plans to reduce drilling in Canada during the first quarter. However, the segment responded quickly by closing or
rationalizing several stores and cutting costs. The U.S. posted solid results, led by the Rocky Mountain and Gulf Coast
areas. Three new stores were opened in the U.S. during the quarter, and the segment continues to pursue new alliance
agreements with new partners. International distribution posted growth in the North Sea, but flow-throughs were
adversely impacted by start up costs associated with a new alliance agreement. Saudi Arabia also posted growth in the
first quarter, and the segment opened its first store in Egypt.

Outlook

We believe that the outlook for the Company for 2007 remains positive, as historically high commodity prices are
expected to keep overall oil and gas activity high, and as the Company enters 2007 with a record level of backlog for
capital equipment for its Rig Technology group. Historically high levels of drilling across the U.S. and several major
markets, including the Middle East, North Africa, the Far East and the North Sea, are expected to continue to drive
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good results. Nevertheless, seasonally high gas storage levels could result in lower gas prices, which could lead to
reductions in activity in North America, where most drilling is directed at gas. However, we believe that a decline in
North American gas drilling, were it to occur, would be short lived, owing to the high decline rates that many gas
wells experience. Gas production from resource plays (coal bed methane, tight sands and shales) has increased to
about 40 percent of total U.S. gas production, and is believed to exhibit higher decline rates than conventional
reservoirs. We believe in the longer term North America faces significant gas deliverability issues. North America has
been unable to meaningfully increase gas production despite significantly higher levels of gas drilling over the past
several years.
Oil prices and supply remains subject to significant political risk in many international regions. The growth of China
and other emerging economies has added significant demand to the oil markets, and new sources of supply continue to
prove challenging
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to find and produce economically. Many important oil producing countries appear to be in permanent decline. The
Company expects the high oil prices that have resulted to sustain high levels of oilfield activity in 2007, provided the
world s major economies remain strong, and OPEC discipline keeps oil prices high.
Quotation activity for the Rig Technology segment s capital equipment remains high, mostly in international markets,
including several potential offshore drilling rigs being considered, platform rig upgrade activity in the North Sea, and
land and offshore rigs for the Middle East, North Africa, India, China, Russia and the Caspian region. Bidding activity
for North American land rigs has softened slightly, as expected due to lower rig dayrates in certain markets, but
interest for land rigs in several major international markets appears to be building. Interest in new offshore rig
construction projects remains high, with several new shipyards bidding new hulls to various drilling contractors.
Based on high levels of quotation activity, the segment expects its backlog to increase again in the second quarter,
provided that some of these bids are accepted by its customers. Historically we have expected operating profit
flow-through for the group to approximate 22 percent, but now expect that the improved pricing and efficiencies may
enable us to exceed this level, as the segment has done for the past few quarters.
Last year our Petroleum Services & Supplies segment s Canadian service businesses declined approximately
$11 million in operating profit from the first quarter to the second due to the seasonal breakup in Canada. The breakup
underway there during the second quarter will likely be more severe this year, but we expect growth in international
markets to roughly offset the seasonal declines in Canada during the second quarter, subject to the segment s success in
achieving price increases among other factors. Historically, the operating profit flow-through for the segment has been
in the range of 30 percent.
The Company s Distribution Services segment operates in a very competitive market, which makes further margin
expansion beyond the record margins posted in recent quarters very challenging. Additionally, the seasonal effect of
the Canadian breakup is expected to pressure margins during the second quarter; however, we are targeting further
international expansion underpinned by new strategic alliances in 2007, and believe that these will fuel additional
growth during the second half of 2007.
The Company expects its capital spending in 2007 to be approximately $250 million, owing to recent increases in
investment in its Rig Technology group. The tax rate for the year is expected to be between 33 percent and 34 percent.
15
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Operating Environment Overview

The Company s results are dependent on, among other things, the level of worldwide oil and gas drilling, well
remediation activity, the prices of crude oil and natural gas, capital spending by other oilfield service companies and
drilling contractors, pipeline maintenance activity, and worldwide oil and gas inventory levels. Key industry indicators
for the first quarter of 2007 and 2006, and the fourth quarter of 2006 include the following:

% %
1Q07 v 1Q07 v
1Q07* 1Q06* 4Q06% 1Q06 4Q006
Active Drilling Rigs:
U.S. 1,732 1,520 1,720 13.9% 0.7%
Canada 532 665 440 (20.0%) 20.9%
International 982 895 952 9.7% 3.2%
Worldwide 3,246 3,080 3,112 5.4% 4.3%
Active Workover Rigs:
U.S. 1,485 1,527 1,523 (2.8%) (2.5%)
Canada 753 707 577 6.5% 30.5%
North America 2,238 2,234 2,100 0.2% 6.6%
West Texas Intermediate $58.14 $63.18 $59.96 (8.0%) (3.0%)
Crude Prices (per barrel)
Natural Gas Prices ($/mmbtu) $ 7.20 $ 7.71 $ 6.65 (6.6%) 8.3%

*  Averages for the

quarters

indicated. See

sources below.
The following table details the U.S., Canadian, and international rig activity and West Texas Intermediate Oil prices
for the past nine quarters ended March 31, 2007 on a quarterly basis:
Source: Rig count: Baker Hughes, Inc. (www.bakerhughes.com); West Texas Intermediate Crude Price: Department
of Energy, Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov).
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The worldwide and U.S. quarterly average rig count increased 5.4% (from 3,080 to 3,246) and 13.9% (from 1,520 to
1,732), respectively, in the first quarter of 2007 compared to the first quarter of 2006. The average per barrel price of
West Texas Intermediate Crude decreased 8.0% (from $63.18 per barrel to $58.14 per barrel) and natural gas prices
decreased 6.6% (from $7.71 per mmbtu to $7.20 per mmbtu) in the first quarter of 2007 compared to the first quarter
of 2006.
U.S. rig activity at April 27, 2007 was 1,747 rigs compared to the first quarter average of 1,732 rigs. The price for
West Texas Intermediate Crude was at $66.46 per barrel as of April 27, 2007. The Company believes that current
industry projections are forecasting commodity prices to remain strong. However, numerous events could significantly
alter these projections including political tensions in the Middle East, the acceleration or deceleration of the U.S. and
world economies, a build up in world oil inventory levels, or numerous other events or circumstances.
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Results of Operations

Operating results by segment are as follows.

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2007 2006
Revenue:
Rig Technology $1,219.8 $ 7153
Petroleum Services & Supplies 691.8 541.0
Distribution Services 351.9 326.5
Eliminations (97.8) (71.0)
Total Revenue $2,165.7 $1,511.8
Operating Profit:
Rig Technology $ 268.8 $ 937
Petroleum Services & Supplies 171.0 115.1
Distribution Services 24.9 20.4
Unallocated expenses and eliminations (37.6) (31.4)
Total Operating Profit $ 427.1 $ 197.8
Operating Profit %:
Rig Technology 22.0% 13.1%
Petroleum Services & Supplies 24.7% 21.3%
Distribution Services 7.1% 6.2%
Total Operating Profit % 19.7% 13.1%

Note: Stock-based compensation expense and integration costs have been allocated to the respective business
segments and unallocated expenses for all periods presented.

Rig Technology

Three Months Ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. Rig Technology revenue in the first quarter of 2007 was

$1,219.8 million, an increase of $504.5 million (71%) compared to the same period of 2006. The increase can be
attributed to the growing market for capital equipment, as evidenced by backlog growth over the past several quarters.
Operating profit from Rig Technology was $268.8 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2007, an increase of
$175.1 million (187%) over the same period of 2006. The increase in operating profit was the result of higher pricing
on rig equipment and continued improvement in operating efficiency.

Petroleum Services & Supplies

Three Months Ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. Revenue from Petroleum Services & Supplies was $691.8 million for
the first quarter of 2007 compared to $541.0 million for the first quarter of 2006, an increase of $150.8 million (28%).
The increase is attributable to higher demand for virtually all products and services offered by the segment. These
increases were the result of strong U.S. and international drilling markets, as reflected by rig count increases of 13.9%
and 9.7%, respectively, in the first quarter of 2007 compared to the same period 2006. The growth is also attributable
to four acquisitions completed since the first quarter of 2006 in the Petroleum Services & Supplies segment, resulting
in an increase of $39.5 million to revenue.
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Operating profit from Petroleum Services & Supplies was $171.0 million for the first quarter of 2007 compared to
$115.1 million for the first quarter of 2006, an increase of $55.9 million (49%). The increase was attributable to higher
profitability across all products, driven by higher volumes and improved pricing and increased efficiency in
manufacturing segments. The impact on operating profit from the four acquisitions was $9.9 million.
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Distribution Services
Three Months Ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. Revenue from Distribution Services was $351.9 million, an increase
of $25.4 million (8%) during the first quarter of 2007 over the comparable 2006 period. The increase can be attributed
to the greater number of rigs operating worldwide during the first quarter, which was 5.4% higher than the same
period for 2006. U.S. and international rigs operating remained strong but were offset by a decline in Canada.
Operating profit of $24.9 million in the first quarter of 2007 increased $4.5 million over the prior year results due to
gross margin improvement on higher revenue volumes coupled with strong expense management worldwide.
Unallocated expenses and eliminations
Unallocated expenses and eliminations were $37.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007, compared to
$31.4 million for the same period of 2006. The increase in unallocated expenses and eliminations was primarily due to
greater inter-segment profit eliminations.
Interest and financial costs
Interest and financial costs were $12.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007, compared to $13.6 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2006. The decrease in interest costs for 2007 compared to 2006 was due to
favorable interest rate movements on the Company s outstanding interest rate swap agreements.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net was an expense of $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007, compared to
expense of $3.0 million for the same period of 2006.
Provision for income taxes
The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2007 was 33.4%, compared to 33.5% for the same period
in 2006. The lower 2007 rate reflect a higher percentage of earnings in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates,
increased state income tax expense resulting from the enactment of the new Texas Margin Tax, and reduced benefits
in the U.S. associated with export sales in 2007 compared to 2006. The U.S. laws granting this tax benefit were
repealed as part of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, and this benefit was phased out in 2006. A new tax
benefit associated with U.S. manufacturing operations passed into law under the same act will be phased in over the
next four years. Whereas the timing of the phase out of the export tax benefit and the phase in of the manufacturing
tax benefit may differ, we expect the tax reduction associated with the new manufacturing deduction, when fully
implemented, to be similar in the amount to the export benefit.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At March 31, 2007, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $1,190.2 million, and total debt of $845.6 million.
At December 31, 2006, cash and cash equivalents were $957.4 million and total debt was $840.3 million. The
Company s outstanding debt at March 31, 2007 consisted of $200.0 million of 5.65% Senior Notes due 2012,
$200.0 million of 7.25% Senior Notes due 2011, $150.0 million of 6.5% Senior Notes due 2011, $150.0 million of
5.5% Senior Notes due 2012, $100.0 million of 7.5% Senior Notes due 2008, and other debt of $45.6 million.
For the first three months of 2007, cash provided by operating activities was $264.2 million compared to cash
provided by operating activities of $86.6 million in the same period of 2006. Cash was provided by operations
primarily through net income of $275.9 million plus non-cash charges of $47.3 million, increases in accounts payable
of $67.2 million, increases in billings in excess of costs of $168.9 million, and increases in other assets/liabilities, net
of $38.1 million. The increase in accounts payable and billings in excess of costs were mainly due to increases in
customer deposits and customer prepayments on rig construction projects. These positive cash flows were offset by
increases in receivables of $69.9 million, increases in costs in excess of billings of $65.9 million and increases in
inventories of $167.9 million. Receivables and costs in excess of billings increased due to greater revenue and activity
in the first three months of 2007 compared to the fourth quarter of 2006, while inventory increased due to growing
backlog orders.
For the first three months of 2007, cash used by investing activities was $85.8 million compared to cash used of
$51.2 million for the same period of 2006. Capital expenditures totaled approximately $48.0 million in the first three
months of 2007, primarily related to the Petroleum Services & Supplies service and rental businesses.
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For the first three months of 2007, cash provided by financing activities was $50.2 million compared to cash provided
of $16.3 million for the same period of 2006. Cash proceeds from exercised stock options was $42.2 million for the
first three months of 2007.
On June 21, 2005, we amended and restated our existing $150 million revolving credit facility with a syndicate of
lenders to provide the Company a $500 million unsecured revolving credit facility. This facility will expire in
July 2010. The facility is available for general corporate purposes and acquisitions, including letters of credit and
performance bonds. The Company has the right to increase the facility to $750 million and to extend the term of the
facility for an additional year. At March 31, 2007, there were no borrowings against this facility. At March 31, 2007,
there were $248 million in outstanding letters of credit in this facility. Interest under this multicurrency facility is
based upon LIBOR, NIBOR or EURIBOR plus 0.30% subject to a ratings-based grid, or the prime rate. The Company
also has $718 million of additional outstanding letters of credit at March 31, 2007, primarily in Norway, that are not
under the Company s senior credit facility. This increased letter of credit exposure is the result of significant down
payments from our customers, which in turn require our issuing to our customers advance payment guarantees in the
form of letters of credits.
The Company s cash balance as of March 31, 2007 was $1,190.2 million. We believe that cash on hand, cash
generated from operations and amounts available under the credit facilities and from other sources of debt will be
sufficient to fund operations, working capital needs, capital expenditure requirements and financing obligations. We
also believe any significant increases in capital expenditures caused by any need to increase manufacturing capacity
can be funded from operations or through debt financing.
We intend to pursue additional acquisition candidates, but the timing, size or success of any acquisition effort and the
related potential capital commitments cannot be predicted. We expect to fund future cash acquisitions primarily with
cash flow from operations and borrowings, including the unborrowed portion of the credit facility or new debt
issuances, but may also issue additional equity either directly or in connection with acquisitions. There can be no
assurance that additional financing for acquisitions will be available at terms acceptable to us.
Inflation has not had a material impact on our operating results or financial condition in recent years. We believe that
the higher costs for labor, energy, steel and other commodities experienced in 2006 and 2007 have largely been
mitigated by increased prices and component surcharges for the products we sell. However, higher steel, energy or
other commodity prices may adversely impact future periods.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ( SFAS 157 ). SFAS 157 establishes a framework for fair value measurements in
the financial statements by providing a single definition of fair value, provides guidance on the methods used to
estimate fair value and increases disclosures about estimates of fair value. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effect, if any, SFAS 157 will have on our
financial disclosures as well as our consolidated financial position, cash flows, and results from operations.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities ( SFAS 159 ). SFAS 159 provides entities with an option to measure many financial assets and liabilities and
certain other items at fair value as determined on an instrument by instrument basis. The Company has not yet
evaluated the impact, if any, this standard might have on the Company s consolidated financial statements once it
becomes effective on January 1, 2008.
Forward-Looking Statements
Some of the information in this document contains, or has incorporated by reference, forward-looking statements.
Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements typically are identified by use of terms such as may, will, expect, anticipate,
estimate, and similar words, although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. All statements
herein regarding expected merger synergies are forward-looking statements. You should be aware that our actual
results could differ materially from results anticipated in the forward-looking statements due to a number of factors,
including but not limited to changes in oil and gas prices, customer demand for our products, difficulties encountered
in integrating mergers and acquisitions, and worldwide economic activity. You should also consider carefully the
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statements under Risk Factors, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006, which address additional factors that could cause our actual results to differ from those set forth in the
forward-looking statements. Given these uncertainties, current or prospective investors are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update any such factors or
forward-looking statements to reflect future events or developments.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Additional information concerning
each of these matters follows:
Foreign Currency Exchange Rates
We have extensive operations in foreign countries. The net assets and liabilities of these operations are exposed to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, although such fluctuations generally do not affect income since their
functional currency is typically the local currency. These operations also have net assets and liabilities not
denominated in the functional currency, which exposes us to changes in foreign currency exchange rates that do
impact income. We recorded a foreign exchange loss in our income statement of approximately $1.3 million in the
first three months of 2007, compared to $0.6 million in the same period of the prior year. The losses were primarily
due to exchange rate fluctuations related to monetary asset balances denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency. Further strengthening of currencies against the U.S. dollar may continue to create similar losses
in future periods to the extent we maintain net assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of the
countries using the local currency as their functional currency.
Some of our revenues in foreign countries are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, changes in foreign currency
exchange rates impact our earnings to the extent that costs associated with those U.S. dollar revenues are denominated
in the local currency. Similarly some of our revenues are denominated in foreign currencies, but have associated U.S.
dollar costs, which also gives rise to foreign currency exchange rate exposure. In order to mitigate that risk, we may
utilize foreign currency forward contracts to better match the currency of our revenues and associated costs. We do
not use foreign currency forward contracts for trading or speculative purposes.
At March 31, 2007, we had entered into foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating
$150.9 million to hedge cash flow exposure to currency fluctuations in various foreign currencies. These exposures
arise when local currency operating expenses are not in balance with local currency revenue collections.
Ineffectiveness was not material on these foreign currency forward contracts. Based on quoted market prices as of
March 31, 2007 and 2006 for contracts with similar terms and maturity dates, we have recorded a gain of $1.0 million
and $0.3 million, respectively, to adjust these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market value. This gain
is included in other comprehensive income in the consolidated balance sheet. It is expected that $1.0 million of the
gain will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. The Company currently has cash flow hedges in
place through the first quarter of 2008.
The Company had foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating $1,693.5 million designated
and qualifying as fair value hedges to hedge exposure to currency fluctuations in various foreign currencies. Based on
quoted market prices as of March 31, 2007 and 2006 for contracts with similar terms and maturity dates, we recorded
a gain of $32.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively, to adjust these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair
market value. This gain is offset by designated losses on the firm commitments. A loss from ineffectiveness of
$0.1 million for the first three months of 2007 was included in earnings related to these forward contracts.
The Company had foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating $69.2 million to offset
exposures to the currency fluctuation of nonfunctional currency balance sheet accounts, primarily consisting of
account receivables and account payables, and are not designated as hedges. Therefore, changes in the fair value of
these contracts are recorded each period in current earnings.
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The maturity of the above forward contracts by currency is:

Hedge Classification Currency 2007 2008 2009 2010 Total

Cash Flow USD $ 148.1 $ 28 $ $ $ 1509

Fair Value EUR $ 1169 $ 604 $ 55 $ $ 1828
GBP 15.1 5.7 0 20.8
KRW 0.4 0.6 0 1.0
SGD 6.8 33 1.2 11.3
USD 879.6 469.3 127.1 1.6 1,477.6

$1,018.8 $539.3 $133.8 $ 1.6 $1,693.5

Balance Sheet EUR $ 0.6 $ $ $ $ 0.6
GBP 0.7 0.7

USD 67.9 67.9

$ 692 $ $ $ $ 692

Total $1,236.1 $542.1 $133.8 $ 1.6 $1,913.6

The Company had other financial market risk sensitive instruments denominated in foreign currencies totaling
$71.7 million as of March 31, 2007 excluding trade receivables and payables, which approximate fair value. These
market risk sensitive instruments consisted of cash balances and overdraft facilities. The Company estimates that a
hypothetical 10% movement of all applicable foreign currency exchange rates on these other financial market risk
sensitive instruments could affect net income by $4.7 million.
The counterparties to forward contracts are major financial institutions. The credit ratings and concentration of risk of
these financial institutions are monitored on a continuing basis. In the unlikely event that the counterparties fail to
meet the terms of a foreign currency contract, our exposure is limited to the foreign currency rate differential.
Interest Rate Risk
At March 31, 2007 our long term borrowings consisted of $100 million in 7.5% Senior Notes, $150 million in 6.5%
Senior Notes, $200 million in 7.25% Senior Notes, $200 million in 5.65% Senior Notes and $150 million in 5.5%
Senior Notes. We occasionally have borrowings under our other credit facilities, and a portion of these borrowings
could be denominated in multiple currencies which could expose us to market risk with exchange rate movements.
These instruments carry interest at a pre-agreed upon percentage point spread from either LIBOR, NIBOR or
EURIBOR, or at the prime interest rate. Under our credit facilities, we may, at our option, fix the interest rate for
certain borrowings based on a spread over LIBOR, NIBOR or EURIBOR for 30 days to 6 months. Our objective is to
maintain a portion of our debt in variable rate borrowings for the flexibility obtained regarding early repayment
without penalties and lower overall cost as compared with fixed-rate borrowings.
As of March 31, 2007, we had three interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of $100 million
associated with our 2008 Senior Notes. Under these agreements, we receive interest at a fixed rate of 7.5% and pay
interest at a floating rate of six-month LIBOR plus a weighted average spread of approximately 4.675%. The swap
agreements will settle semi-annually and will terminate in February 2008. The swap agreements originally entered
into by Varco were recorded at their fair market value at the date of the Merger and no longer qualify as effective
hedges. The swaps are marked-to-market for periods subsequent to the Merger and any change in their value will be
reported as an adjustment to interest expense. The change in the fair market value of the interest rate swap agreements
resulted in a $0.2 million decrease in interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2007.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company s management, including the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company s disclosure controls and procedures. The
Company s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the Company s management, including the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures and is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time period specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Based upon that evaluation, the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that the Company s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the period covered by
this report at a reasonable assurance level.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II _OTHER INFORMATION
Item 6. Exhibits

Reference is hereby made to the Exhibit Index commencing on Page 25.
SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 7, 2007 By: /s/ Clay C. Williams
Clay C. Williams
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer, Principal Financial
and
Accounting Officer)
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
(a) Exhibits
2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, effective as of August 11, between National-Oilwell,
Inc. and Varco International, Inc. (4).
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of National-Oilwell, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1) (1).
3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2) (7).

10.1 Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2002 between Merrill A. Miller, Jr. and National Oilwell.
(Exhibit 10.1) (2).

10.2 Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2002 between Dwight W. Rettig and National Oilwell, with
similar agreements with Kevin A. Neveu and Mark A. Reese. (Exhibit 10.2) (2).

10.3 Form of Amended and Restated Executive Agreement of Clay C. Williams and Haynes Smith. (Exhibit 10.12)
3.

10.4 National Oilwell Varco Long-Term Incentive Plan (5)*.

10.5 Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.1) (8).

10.6 Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.2) (8).

10.7 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2005, among National Oilwell Varco, Inc., the
financial institutions signatory thereto, including Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, in their capacities as
lenders thereunder, as US administrative agent for the lenders, as Lead Arranger and Sole Book Runner, DnB
NOR Bank ASA, as Norwegian Administrative Agent, DnB NOR Bank ASA and the Bank of Nova Scotia as
Co-Documentation Agents, and Comerica Bank and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Co-Syndication Agents.
(Exhibit 10.1) (6).

10.8 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock (18 Month) Agreement (Exhibit 10.1) (9).

10.9 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock (36 Month) Agreement (Exhibit 10.2) (9).

31.1 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act, as amended

31.2 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act, as amended

32.1 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*  Compensatory

plan or
arrangement for

management or
others
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(6)
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Filed as an
Exhibit to our
Quarterly
Report on Form
10-Q filed on
August 11,
2000.

Filed as an
Exhibit to our
Annual Report
on Form 10-K
filed on

March 28, 2002.

Filed as an
Exhibit to Varco
International,
Inc. s Quarterly
Report on Form
10-Q filed on
May 6, 2004.

Filed as Annex
A to our
Registration
Statement on
Form S-4 filed
on

September 16,
2004.

Filed as Annex
D to our
Amendment
No. 1 to
Registration
Statement on
Form S-4 filed
on January 31,
2005.

Filed as an
Exhibit to our
Current Report
on Form 8-K
filed on June 23,
2005.
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Filed as an
Exhibit to our
Current Report
on Form 8-K
filed on
November 18,
2005.

(8) Filed as an
Exhibit to our
Current Report
on Form 8-K
filed on
February 23,
2006.

(9) Filed as an

Exhibit to our

Current Report

on Form 8-K

filed on

March 27, 2007.
We hereby undertake, pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b), paragraph (4) (iii), to furnish to the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission, upon request, all constituent instruments defining the rights of holders of our long-term
debt not filed herewith.
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se of individuals, who may offset up to $3,000 of ordinary income each year). In addition, any loss upon a sale or

exchange of shares by a shareholder who has held the shares for six months or less, after applying holding period

rules, will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent of distributions received from us that are required to be
treated by the shareholder as long-term capital gain.

If a holder of common or preferred shares recognizes a loss upon a subsequent disposition of those shares in an amount that exceeds a
prescribed threshold, it is possible that the provisions of the recently adopted Treasury Regulations involving tax shelters could apply to require
a disclosure filing with the IRS concerning the loss-generating transaction. While these regulations are directed toward tax shelters, they are
quite broad, and apply to transactions that would not typically be considered tax shelters. In addition, legislative proposals have been introduced
in Congress that, if enacted, would impose significant penalties for failure to comply with these requirements. You should consult your tax
advisors concerning any possible disclosure obligation with respect to the receipt or disposition of common or preferred shares, or transactions
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that might be undertaken directly or indirectly by us. Moreover, you should be aware that we and other participants in the transactions involving
us (including their advisors) might be subject to disclosure or other requirements pursuant to these regulations.

A redemption of preferred shares will be treated under section 302 of the Internal Revenue Code as a dividend subject to tax at ordinary
income tax rates (to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits), unless the redemption satisfies certain tests set forth in
section 302(b) of the Internal Revenue Code enabling the redemption to be treated as a sale or exchange of the preferred shares. The redemption
will satisfy such test if it (1) is substantially disproportionate with respect to the holder (which will not be the case if only preferred shares are
redeemed, since preferred shares generally do not have voting rights), (2) results in a complete termination of the shareholder s stock interest in
us, or (3) is not essentially equivalent to a dividend with respect to the shareholder, all within the meaning of section 302(b) of the Internal
Revenue Code. In determining whether any of these tests have been met, shares considered to be owned by the shareholder by reason of certain
constructive ownership rules set forth in the Internal Revenue Code, as well as shares actually owned, must generally be taken into account.
Because the determination as to whether any of the alternative tests of section 302(b) of the Internal Revenue Code is satisfied with respect to
any particular holder of preferred shares will depend upon the facts and circumstances as of the time the determination is made, prospective
investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors to determine such tax treatment. If a redemption of preferred shares is treated as a
distribution that is taxable as a dividend, the amount of the distribution would be measured by the amount of cash and the fair market value of
any property received by the shareholder. The shareholder s adjusted tax basis in the redeemed preferred shares would be transferred to the
shareholder s remaining stock holdings in the Company. If, however, the shareholder has no remaining stock holdings in the Company, such
basis may, under certain circumstances, be transferred to a related person or it may be lost entirely.

Passive Activity Loss and Investment Interest Limitations. Taxable dividends that we distribute and gain from the disposition of common or
preferred shares will not be treated as passive activity income, and therefore, shareholders generally will not be able to apply any passive losses
against such income. Taxable dividends that we distribute and gain from the disposition of common or preferred shares generally may be treated
as investment income for purposes of applying the limitation on the deductibility of investment interest.

Federal Income Taxation of Non-U.S. Shareholders

The following is a summary of certain United States federal income and estate tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of
common and preferred shares applicable to non-U.S. shareholders. A non-U.S. shareholder is any person other than:

a citizen or resident of the United States,

a corporation or partnership created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States, or of any state thereof, or the
District of Columbia,

an estate, the income of which is includable in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes regardless of its source, or

a trust if a United States court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more United States
fiduciaries have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.
The following summary is based on current law and is for general information only. The summary addresses only selective and not all aspects of
United States federal income and estate taxation.

Ordinary Dividends. The portion of dividends received by non-U.S. shareholders payable out of our earnings and profits which are not
attributable to our capital gains and which are not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. shareholder will be subject
to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30%, unless reduced by treaty.
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In general, non-U.S. shareholders will not be considered to be engaged in a U.S. trade or business solely as a result of their ownership of
common or preferred shares. In cases where the dividend income from a non-U.S. shareholder s investment in common or preferred shares is, or
is treated as, effectively connected with the non-U.S. shareholder s conduct of a U.S. trade or business, the non-U.S. shareholder generally will
be subject to U.S. income tax at graduated rates, in the same manner as domestic shareholders are taxed with respect to such dividends, and may
also be subject to the 30% branch profits tax in the case of a non-U.S. shareholder that is a corporation.

Non-Dividend Distributions. Unless our common or preferred shares constitute a U.S. real property interest (referred to in this section as a

USRPI ), distributions by us which are not dividends out of our earnings and profits will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. If it
cannot be determined at the time at which a distribution is made whether or not the distribution will exceed current and accumulated earnings
and profits, the entire distribution will be subject to withholding at the rate applicable to dividends. However, the non-U.S. shareholder may seek
a refund from the IRS of any amounts withheld if it is subsequently determined that the distribution was, in fact, in excess of our current and
accumulated earnings and profits. If the common or preferred shares constitute a USRPI, as discussed below, distributions by us in excess of the
sum of our earnings and profits plus the shareholder s basis in its shares will be taxed under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of
1980 (which is referred to in this section as FIRPTA ) at the rate of tax, including any applicable capital gains rates, that would apply to a
domestic shareholder of the same type (that is, an individual or a corporation, as the case may be), and the collection of the tax will be enforced
by a refundable withholding at a rate of 10% of the amount by which the distribution exceeds the shareholder s share of our earnings and profits.

Capital Gain Dividends. Under FIRPTA, a distribution made by us to a non-U.S. shareholder, to the extent attributable to gains from
dispositions of USRPIs held by us directly or through pass-through subsidiaries (referred to in this section as USRPI capital gains ), will be
considered effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. shareholder and will be subject to U.S. income tax at the rates
applicable to U.S. individuals or corporations (as the case may be) (subject to alternative minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in
the case of nonresident alien individuals), without regard to whether the distribution is designated as a capital gain dividend. In addition, we will
be required to withhold tax equal to 35% of the amount of dividends to the extent the dividends constitute USRPI capital gains. Distributions
subject to FIRPTA may also be subject to a 30% branch profits tax in the hands of a non-U.S. shareholder that is a corporation.

Dispositions of Common or Preferred Shares. Unless the common or preferred shares constitute a USRPI, a sale of such shares by a
non-U.S. shareholder generally will not be subject to U.S. taxation under FIRPTA. The shares will not be treated as a USRPI if less than 50% of
our assets during a prescribed testing period consist of interests in real property located within the United States, excluding, for this purpose,
interests in real property solely in a capacity as a creditor.

Even if the foregoing test is not met, common and preferred shares nonetheless will not constitute a USRPI if we are a
domestically-controlled REIT. A domestically-controlled REIT is a REIT less than 50% in value of the shares of which is held directly or
indirectly by non-U.S. shareholders at all times during a prescribed testing period. We believe that we are, and we expect to continue to be, a
domestically-controlled REIT and, therefore, the sale of the common or preferred shares should not be subject to taxation under FIRPTA.
Because our common shares are publicly traded, however, no assurance can be given that we are or will be a domestically-controlled REIT.

In the event that we do not constitute a domestically-controlled REIT, a non-U.S. shareholder s sale of common or preferred shares
nonetheless will generally not be subject to tax under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI, provided that (1) the shares are regularly traded, as defined
by applicable Treasury Regulations, on an established securities market, and (2) the selling non-U.S. shareholder held 5% or less of our
outstanding shares at all times during a prescribed testing period.

If gain on the sale of common or preferred shares were subject to taxation under FIRPTA, the non-U.S. shareholder would be subject to the
same treatment as a U.S. shareholder with respect to such gain,
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subject to applicable alternative minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of non-resident alien individuals, and the
purchaser of the shares could be required to withhold 10% of the purchase price and remit such amount to the IRS.

Gain from the sale of common or preferred shares that would not otherwise be subject to FIRPTA will nonetheless be taxable in the United
States to a non-U.S. shareholder in two cases: (1) if the non-U.S. shareholder s investment in the common or preferred shares is effectively
connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by such non-U.S. shareholder, the non-U.S. shareholder will be subject to the same treatment
as a U.S. shareholder with respect to such gain, or (2) if the non-U.S. shareholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the United
States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and either has a tax home in the United States or maintains in the United States an office or
other fixed place of business to which the gain is attributable, the nonresident alien individual will be subject to tax on the individual s capital
gain at a 30% rate (or lower tax treaty rate, if applicable).

Estate Tax. Common or preferred shares owned or treated as owned by an individual who is not a citizen or resident (as specially defined
for U.S. federal estate tax purposes) of the United States at the time of death will be includable in the individual s gross estate for U.S. federal
estate tax purposes, unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise, and may therefore be subject to U.S. federal estate tax.

Federal Taxation of Tax-Exempt Shareholders

Tax-exempt entities, including qualified employee pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts, generally are
exempt from federal income taxation. However, they are subject to taxation on their unrelated business taxable income (which is referred to in
this section as UBTI ). While many investments in real estate generate UBTI, the IRS has ruled that dividend distributions from a REIT to a
tax-exempt entity do not constitute UBTI. Based on that ruling, and provided that (1) a tax-exempt shareholder has not held its common or
preferred shares as debt financed property within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code (that is, where the acquisition or holding of the
property is financed through a borrowing by the tax-exempt shareholder), and (2) the shares are not otherwise used in an unrelated trade or
business, we believe that distributions from us and income from the sale of the shares should not give rise to UBTI to a tax-exempt shareholder.

Tax-exempt shareholders that are social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts, and
qualified group legal services plans exempt from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9), (17) and (20) of the Internal Revenue
Code, respectively, are subject to different UBTI rules, which generally will require them to characterize distributions from us as UBTI.

In certain circumstances, a pension trust that owns more than 10% of the value of our shares could be required to treat a percentage of the
dividends from us as UBTI if we are a pension-held REIT. We will not be a pension-held REIT unless either (1) one pension trust owns more
than 25% of the value of our shares, or (2) a group of pension trusts, each individually holding more than 10% of the value of our shares,
collectively owns more than 50% of the value of our shares. We believe that we currently are not a pension-held REIT.

Tax-exempt shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisor regarding the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of
an investment in our common or preferred shares.

Other Tax Considerations

Information Reporting Requirements and Backup Withholding Tax

Under certain circumstances, holders of common and preferred shares may be subject to backup withholding at a rate of 28% through 2010
on payments made with respect to, or cash proceeds of a sale or exchange of, common or preferred shares. Backup withholding will apply only
if the shareholder (1) fails to furnish its taxpayer identification number, referred to in this section asa TIN (which, for an individual, would be
his or her social security number), (2) furnishes an incorrect TIN, (3) is notified by the IRS that it has failed to properly report payments of
interest and dividends, or (4) under certain circumstances, fails to certify, under penalty of perjury, that it has not been notified by the IRS that it
is subject to backup
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withholding for failure to report interest and dividend payments. Backup withholding will not apply with respect to payments made to certain
exempt recipients, such as corporations and tax-exempt organizations. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their
qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedure for obtaining such an exemption. Backup withholding is not an
additional tax. Rather, the amount of any backup withholding with respect to a payment to a shareholder will be allowed as a credit against such
shareholder s United States federal income tax liability and may entitle such shareholder to a refund, provided that the required information is
furnished to the IRS. In addition, we may be required to withhold a portion of capital gain distributions to, or gross proceeds from our
redemption of shares or other securities from, any shareholders who fail to certify their non-foreign status, if applicable.

Additional issues may arise pertaining to information reporting and backup withholding with respect to non-U.S. shareholders, and
non-U.S. shareholders should consult their tax advisors with respect to any such information reporting and backup withholding requirements.
Backup withholding with respect to non-U.S. shareholders is not an additional tax. Rather, the amount of any backup withholding with respect to
a payment to a non-U.S. shareholder will be allowed as a credit against any United States federal income tax liability of such
non-U.S. shareholder. If withholding results in an overpayment of taxes, a refund may be obtained, provided that the required information is
furnished to the IRS.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
To the extent that a shareholder receives common shares or preferred shares pursuant to a dividend reinvestment plan, the federal income

tax treatment of the shareholder and us will generally be the same as if the distribution had been made in cash. See Federal Income Taxation of
Shareholders and Taxation of the Company Annual Distribution Requirements above.

Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITS
The rules dealing with federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS

and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to the federal tax laws and interpretations of federal tax laws could adversely affect an investment in
the common shares and preferred shares.

State and Local Taxes

We are, and holders of common shares and preferred shares may be, subject to state, local, or other taxation in various state, local, or other
jurisdictions, including those in which we or our shareholders transact business, own property or reside. The tax treatment in such jurisdictions
may differ from the federal income tax consequences discussed above. Consequently, prospective investors should consult their own tax
advisors regarding the effect of state, local, and other tax laws on their investment in common shares and preferred shares.

Additional Tax Consequences for Holders of Warrants

See the applicable prospectus supplement for a discussion of any additional tax consequences for holders of warrants offered by such
prospectus supplement.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell our securities from time to time through underwriters or dealers, directly to purchasers, through agents or through a
combination of any of these methods. We may also sell our securities directly to investors through subscription rights distributed to our
shareholders. In connection with the distribution of subscription rights to shareholders, if all of the underlying securities are not subscribed for,
we may sell such unsubscribed securities directly, or through underwriters, to third parties. Any underwriter or agent involved in the offer and
sale of securities will be named in the applicable prospectus supplement.
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We may distribute securities in one or more transactions at a fixed price or prices, at prices related to the prevailing market prices at the time
of sale, or at negotiated prices (any of which may represent a discount from the prevailing market prices). We may also authorize underwriters
acting as our agents to offer and sell securities upon the terms and conditions set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. In connection
with the sale of securities, underwriters may be deemed to have received compensation from us in the form of underwriting discounts or
commissions and may also receive commissions from purchasers of securities for whom they may act as agent. Underwriters may sell securities
to or through dealers, and such dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the underwriters
and/or commissions from the purchasers for whom they may act as agent.

Any underwriting compensation that we pay to underwriters or agents in connection with the offering of securities, and any discounts,
concessions or commissions allowed by underwriters to participating dealers, will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.
Underwriters, dealers and agents participating in the distribution of securities may be deemed to be underwriters, and any discounts and
commissions they receive and any profit they realize on resale of securities may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions,
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder. Underwriters, dealers and agents may be entitled, under
agreements entered into with us, to indemnification against and contribution toward certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the
Securities Act.

Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, the obligations of the underwriters to purchase any series of securities
will be subject to certain conditions precedent, and the underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of such series of securities, if any are
purchased.

If so indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will authorize dealers acting as our agents to solicit offers by certain institutions
to purchase securities from us at the public offering price set forth in the prospectus supplement pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing
for payment and delivery on the date or dates stated in the prospectus supplement. Each contract will be for an amount not less than, and the
aggregate principal amount of securities sold pursuant to contracts will be neither less than nor more than, the respective amounts stated in the
applicable prospectus supplement. Institutions with whom contracts, when authorized, may be made include commercial and savings banks,
insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies, educational and charitable institutions, and other institutions but will in all cases be
subject to our approval. Contracts will not be subject to any conditions except (1) the purchase by an institution of securities covered by its
contracts shall not at the time of delivery be prohibited under the laws of any jurisdiction in the United States to which such institution is subject;
and (2) if securities are being sold to underwriters, we will have sold to such underwriters the total principal amount of securities less the
principal amount covered by the contracts. Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates may be customers of, engage in transactions with and
perform services for us in the ordinary course of business.

Other than our common shares which are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, each series of securities will be a new issue of securities
and will have no established trading market. Any common shares sold pursuant to a prospectus supplement will be listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance. Any underwriters to whom securities are sold by us for public offering and sale may make a
market in the securities, but such underwriters will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice.
The securities, other than our common shares, may or may not be listed on a national securities exchange.

Underwriters and agents may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us and our affiliates in the ordinary course of business.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of any securities offered will be passed upon for us by Ballard Spahr Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP, Baltimore, Maryland. Certain
tax matters will be passed upon for us by Honigman Miller Schwartz and Cohn LLP, Detroit, Michigan.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and the related consolidated financial statement schedule incorporated in this prospectus by reference
from the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report,
which report is incorporated herein by reference and which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph
relating to changes in the method of accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets in 2002 and derivative instruments and
hedging activities in 2001, and have been so incorporated in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in
accounting and auditing.
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INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 14.  Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The following table sets forth all expenses payable by us (other than underwriting commissions and discounts) in connection with the
offering of our common shares being registered by this registration statement. All amounts are estimated except the SEC registration fee, the
NYSE supplemental listing fee and the NASD filing fee.

SEC registration fee $44,345
NYSE supplemental listing fee
NASD filing fee

Transfer agent fees

Warrants agent fees

Legal fees and expenses
Accounting fees and Expenses
Printing expenses
Miscellaneous

¥ K X ¥ K X X *

Total *

* To be filed by amendment.

Item 15.  Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Under Maryland law, a real estate investment trust formed in Maryland is permitted to limit, by provision in its declaration of trust, the
liability of its trustees and officers to the trust and shareholders for money damages except for (i) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit
in money, property or services or (ii) acts or omissions involving active and deliberate dishonesty established by a final judgment as being
material to the cause of action. Our declaration of trust (as amended and restated) contains such a provision which eliminates such liability to the
maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.

Our declaration of trust permits us, and our Bylaws require us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect from time to
time, to indemnify any trustee or officer (a) against reasonable expenses incurred by him in the successful defense (on the merits or otherwise) of
any proceeding to which he is made a party by reason of such status or (b) against any claim or liability to which he may become subject by
reason of such status unless it is established that (i) the act or omission giving rise to the claim was committed in bad faith or was the result of
active and deliberate dishonesty, (ii) he actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services, or (iii) in the case of a
criminal proceeding, he had reasonable cause to believe that his act or omission was unlawful. We are also required by our Bylaws to pay or
reimburse, in advance of a final disposition, reasonable expenses of a trustee or officer made a party to a proceeding by reason of his status as
such, provided, however, that in accordance with Maryland law, we have received a written affirmation by the trustee or officer of his good faith
belief that he has met the applicable standard for indemnification under such Bylaws and a written undertaking to repay such expenses if it shall
ultimately be determined that the applicable standard was not met.

Under Maryland law, a real estate investment trust formed in Maryland is permitted to indemnify and advance expenses to its trustees,
officers, employees and agents to the same extent as permitted by the Maryland General Corporation Law for directors and officers of Maryland
corporations. The Maryland General Corporation Law permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among
others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to
which they may be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that (a) the act or omission of the
director or officer was material to
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the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (i) was committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (b) the
director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the
director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful. However, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify
for an adverse judgement in a suit by or in the right of the corporation.

Item 16.  Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated by reference:

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
1 The forms of underwriting agreement with respect to each series of securities registered hereunder and issued pursuant
hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant, dated October 2, 1997, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

4.2 Articles Supplementary Classifying 1,150,000 Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest as 9.5% Series B Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Registrant, dated November 8, 2002, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K dated November 5, 2002 and incorporated
herein by reference.

43 By-Laws of the Registrant adopted October 2, 1997, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

44 The form or forms of securities with respect to each particular series of securities registered hereunder and issued
pursuant hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.5 The form of any articles supplementary to the Registrant s declaration of trust, with respect to any preferred shares
registered hereunder and issued pursuant hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form
8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

4.6 The form or forms of common shares warrant agreement will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

4.7 The form or forms of preferred shares warrant agreement will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

4.8 The form or forms of any warrant with respect to each particular series of warrants registered hereunder and issued
pursuant hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

5.1 Opinion of Ballard Spahr Andrews and Ingersoll, LLP as to the validity of the securities.

8.1 Opinion of Honigman Miller Schwartz and Cohn LLP as to certain tax matters.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

232 Consent of Ballard Spahr Andrews and Ingersoll, LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
233 Consent of Honigman Miller Schwartz and Cohn LLP (included in Exhibit 8.1).
24.1 Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages).

Item 17. Undertakings
(1) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

a. To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
(i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent
post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or
11-2
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in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that
which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the

form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no
more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective
registration statement.

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration
statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

Provided, however, the paragraphs (a)(i) and (a)(ii) of this section do not apply if the registration statement is on Form S-3, Form S-8 or
Form F-3, and the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed
with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are
incorporated by reference in the registration statement.

b. That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

c. To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at
the termination of the offering.

(2) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing
of the registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that is incorporated by
reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered herein, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling
persons of the registrant, the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities
and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event
that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director,
officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or
controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of counsel the matter has been
settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public
policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(4) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

a. For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus as
filed as part of this Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant
to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time it
was declared effective.

b. For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of
prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at
that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of
the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, in the City of Southfield, State of Michigan, on March 25, 2004.

RAMCO-GERSHENSON PROPERTIES TRUST

By: /s/ DENNIS E. GERSHENSON

Dennis E. Gershenson
Chief Executive Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Dennis E. Gershenson, Richard E. Gershenson and Richard J. Smith
his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, with full powers of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement,
including any related registration statement filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto,
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents,
each acting alone, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the
premises, as full to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, each acting alone, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ JOEL D. GERSHENSON Chairman of the Board of Trustees March 25,
2004

Joel D. Gershenson

/s/ DENNIS E. GERSHENSON President, Chief Executive Officer and Trustee March 25,
(Principal Executive Officer) 2004

Dennis E. Gershenson

/s/ RICHARD J. SMITH Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer March 25,
and Principal Accounting Officer) 2004

Richard J. Smith

/s/ STEPHEN R. BLANK Trustee March 25,
2004

Stephen R. Blank

/s/ ARTHUR H. GOLDBERG Trustee March 25,
2004

Arthur H. Goldberg

/s/ JAMES GROSFELD Trustee March 25,
2004

James Grosfeld
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Signature Title Date
/s/ ROBERT A. MEISTER Trustee March 18,
2004
Robert A. Meister
/s/ JOEL M. PASHCOW Trustee March 25,
2004
Joel M. Pashcow
/s MARK K. ROSENFELD Trustee March 25,
2004

Mark K. Rosenfeld
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
1 The form of underwriting agreement with respect to each series of securities registered hereunder and issued pursuant
hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant, dated October 2, 1997, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

4.2 Articles Supplementary Classifying 1,150,000 Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest as 9.5% Series B Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Registrant, dated November 8, 2002, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K dated November 5, 2002 and incorporated
herein by reference.

43 By-Laws of the Registrant adopted October 2, 1997, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

44 The form or forms of securities with respect to each particular series of securities registered hereunder and issued
pursuant hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.5 The form of any articles supplementary to the Registrant s declaration of trust, with respect to any preferred shares
registered hereunder and issued pursuant hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

4.6 The form or forms of common shares warrant agreement will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

4.7 The form or forms of preferred shares warrant agreement will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

4.8 The form or forms of any Warrant with respect to each particular series of Warrants registered hereunder and issued
pursuant hereto will be filed as an exhibit to a Current Report of the Registrant on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

5.1 Opinion of Ballard Spahr Andrews and Ingersoll, LLP as to the validity of the securities.

8.1 Opinion of Honigman Miller Schwartz and Cohn LLP as to certain tax matters.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

232 Consent of Ballard Spahr Andrews and Ingersoll, LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
233 Consent of Honigman Miller Schwartz and Cohn LLP (included in Exhibit 8.1).
24.1 Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages).
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